Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-19-2017

State v. Osborn Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44964

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Michael Osborn pled guilty to grand theft and burglary and was sentenced to a total unified term of 24 years, with 17 years fixed, set to run concurrently with a total unified sentence of 36 years, with 17 years fixed, imposed in a separate case.¹ Mr. Osborn asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence, and by denying his later filed Rule 35 motion, in light of the mitigating factors present in his case.

¹ Mr. Osborn's other case, Ada County case no. 2016-24383, is the subject of the appeal filed in Supreme Court docket no. 44965.

Statement of the Facts & Course of Proceedings

Michael Osborn has a drug problem. The day after using heroin and methamphetamine with some friends, and desperate for money, Mr. Osborn walked into a bank and asked the teller to give him the money in her drawer stating, "[n]o marked. No trap." (Tr. Prelim, p.3, L.23 – p.7, L.24.) The teller gave Mr. Osborn the money in her drawer, and Mr. Osborn was arrested the next day. (Tr. Prelim, p.8, L.8 – p.16, L.24.) The State filed a complaint alleging Mr. Osborn committed the crime of robbery. (R., pp.11-12.) A preliminary hearing was held, Mr. Osborn was bound over into the district court, and an Information was filed charging Mr. Osborn with robbery. (R., pp.31-36.) The State later filed an Information Part II alleging Mr. Osborn is subject to a persistent violator enhancement. (R., pp.49-50.)

Pursuant to an agreement with the State, Mr. Osborn pled guilty to an amended information charging him with grand theft and burglary; in exchange, the State agreed to dismiss the persistent violator enhancement, and agreed to recommend a total unified sentence of 24 years, with 20 years fixed, to run concurrently with the sentence to be imposed in Ada County case no. 2016-24383,² and concurrently with a sentence previously imposed upon Mr. Osborn in a third case. (R., pp.147-160; Tr., p.5, L.3 – p.18, L.25.) Mr. Osborn also filed a timely Rule 35 motion asking the district court to reduce the fixed portion of his sentence to 10 years. (R., pp.189-194.) Mr. Osborn supplemented his Rule 35 motion with an additional letter in

-

² Pursuant to the same agreement, Mr. Osborn pled guilty to the charges alleged in an Amended Information filed in Ada County case no. 2016-24383 and the State agreed to recommend a unified sentence of 36 years, with 20 years fixed, in that case. (R., pp.158-160; Tr., p.7, Ls.15-20.)

support. (Aug., pp.1-4.)³ Ultimately, the district court denied Mr. Osborn's Rule 35 motion. (Aug., pp.5-10.)

ISSUES

- I. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it imposed upon Mr. Osborn a total unified sentence of 24 years, with 17 years fixed, in light of the mitigating factors that exist in this case?
- II. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it denied Mr. Osborn's Idaho Criminal Rule 35 Motion for a Reduction of Sentence in light of the additional mitigating information offered in support of the motion?

ARGUMENT

I.

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Imposed Upon Mr. Osborn A Total Unified Sentence Of 24 Years, With 17 Years Fixed, In Light Of The Mitigating Factors That Exist In This Case

Mr. Osborn asserts that, given any view of the facts, his total unified sentence of 24 years, with 17 years fixed, is excessive. Where a defendant contends that the sentencing court imposed an excessively harsh sentence, the appellate court will conduct an independent review of the record giving consideration to the nature of the offense, the character of the offender, and the protection of the public interest. *See State v. Reinke*, 103 Idaho 771 (Ct. App. 1982). The governing criteria or objectives of criminal punishment are: (1) protection of society; (2) deterrence of the individual and the public generally; (3) the possibility of rehabilitation; and (4) punishment or retribution for wrongdoing. *State v. Jackson*, 130 Idaho 293, 294 (1997) (citations omitted).

³ Mr. Osborn has filed a motion to augment the record with his memorandum in support of his Rule 35 motion, and the district court's order denying the Rule 35 motion. The motion to augment is pending.

Mr. Osborn's crime is a direct result of his drug addictions. The night before he entered the bank and asked for money, he had been using heroin and methamphetamine. (PSI, p.7.)⁴ Mr. Osborn was "dope sick" and "coming down badly" and he was desperate for money. *Id.* In the months leading up to his crimes, Mr. Osborn had been using methamphetamine, heroin, bath salts, cocaine, and prescription drugs. (PSI, p.16.) He expressed a desire to get treatment for his addiction stating, "T'm tired of being an addict," and he realized that his prior failure in drug treatment programs was due to his not being committed to sobriety (PSI, pp.16-17.)

Mr. Osborn also struggles with mental health issues. He has been diagnosed with bipolar disorder, PTSD, anxiety disorder, and ADHD, and has taken various prescription medications to help him deal with his mental health issues. (PSI, pp.14-15.) Mr. Osborn has tried to commit suicide in the past and he recognizes that he would benefit from counseling. (PSI, p.15.) Fortunately, Mr. Osborn enjoys the support of family and friends. He submitted letters from various people explaining how he came to be in the situation that led him to commit his crimes, but also explaining that he is a kind and giving person. (PSI, pp.45-54.)

Idaho Courts recognize that drug addiction and mental health issues, coupled with the willingness to seek treatment, in addition to the support of family and friends, are all mitigating factors that should counsel a court to impose a lesser sentence. *See Hollon v. State*, 132 Idaho 573 (1999); *State v. Shideler*, 103 Idaho 593 (1982); *State v. Nice*, 103 Idaho 89 (1982). In light of the mitigating factors that exist in his case, Mr. Osborn asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence.

_

⁴ Citations to the Presentence Investigation Report and its attached documents will use the designation "PSI" and will include page numbers associated with the electronic file containing those documents.

The District Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied Mr. Osborn's Idaho Criminal Rule 35 Motion For A Reduction Of Sentence In Light Of The Additional Mitigating Information Offered In Support Of The Motion

A motion to alter an otherwise lawful sentence under Rule 35 is addressed to the sound discretion of the sentencing court, and essentially is a plea for leniency which may be granted if the sentence originally imposed was unduly severe. *State v. Trent*, 125 Idaho 251, 253 (Ct. App. 1994) (citations omitted). "The criteria for examining rulings denying the requested leniency are the same as those applied in determining whether the original sentence was reasonable." *Id.* (citation omitted). "If the sentence was not excessive when pronounced, the defendant must later show that it is excessive in view of new or additional information presented with the motion for reduction. *Id.* (citation omitted).

Through his Rule 35 motion, Mr. Osborn, who did not address the court during the sentencing hearing, informed the court that he was very remorseful for his actions. (R., pp.189-194.) He noted that he is maintaining his sobriety in the prison, even though drugs are available to him. *Id.* Mr. Osborn expressed that his situation has opened his eyes to how precious life is, and he does not want to waste any more of it using drugs. *Id.* Finally, Mr. Osborn submitted an additional letter in support from his mother, Laura Russell. (Aug., pp.3-4.) In addition to the mitigating factors noted above, Idaho Courts recognize that remorse for one's conduct is a mitigating factor that should counsel a court to impose a lesser sentence. *See State v. Alberts*, 121 Idaho 204 (Ct. App. 1991). In light of the mitigating factors present in this case, Mr. Osborn asserts that the district court abused its discretion by denying his Rule 35 motion.

CONCLUSION

Mr. Osborn respectfully requests that this Court reduce the total fixed portion of his sentence to 10 years, or whatever relief this court deems just and appropriate.