# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Not Reported

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-16-2017

## State v. Osborn Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44964

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.law.uidaho.edu/not\_reported

#### Recommended Citation

"State v. Osborn Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44964" (2017). Not Reported. 3953.  $https://digitalcommons.law.uidaho.edu/not\_reported/3953$ 

This Court Document is brought to you for free and open access by the Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs at Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law. It has been accepted for inclusion in Not Reported by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law. For more information, please contact annablaine@uidaho.edu.

LAWRENCE G. WASDEN Attorney General State of Idaho

PAUL R. PANTHER
Deputy Attorney General
Chief, Criminal Law Division

LORI A. FLEMING Deputy Attorney General P.O. Box 83720 Boise, Idaho 83720-0010 (208) 334-4534

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF IDAHO

STATE OF IDAHO,	)	
	)	NO. 44964
Plaintiff-Respondent,	)	
	)	Ada County Case No.
v.	)	CR-2016-4203
	)	
MICHAEL ROBERT OSBORN,	)	
	)	RESPONDENT'S BRIEF
Defendant-Appellant.	)	
•	)	

#### <u>Issue</u>

Has Osborn failed to establish that the district court abused its discretion, either by imposing an aggregate, unified sentence of 24 years, with 17 years fixed, upon his guilty pleas to burglary and grand theft, or by denying his Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence?

### Osborn Has Failed To Establish That The District Court Abused Its Sentencing Discretion

Osborn pled guilty to burglary and grand theft and the district court imposed an aggregate, unified sentence of 24 years, with 17 years fixed, and ordered that the sentence run concurrently with Osborn's sentence in Ada Count Case No. CR01-2016-24383. (R., pp.170-73.) Osborn filed a notice of appeal timely from the judgment of conviction. (R., pp.174-76.)

He also filed a timely Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence, which the district court denied. (R., pp.189-94; Order Regarding Motion for Reconsideration of Sentence Pursuant to Idaho Criminal Rule 35 (Augmentation).)

Osborn asserts that the district court abused its discretion by imposing an excessive sentence in light of his substance abuse, desire for treatment, mental health issues, and support of family and friends. (Appellant's brief, pp.3-4.) Osborn has failed to establish an abuse of discretion.

When evaluating whether a sentence is excessive, the court considers the entire length of the sentence under an abuse of discretion standard. State v. McIntosh, 160 Idaho 1, 8, 368 P.3d 621, 628 (2016); State v. Stevens, 146 Idaho 139, 148, 191 P.3d 217, 226 (2008). It is presumed that the fixed portion of the sentence will be the defendant's probable term of confinement. State v. Oliver, 144 Idaho 722, 726, 170 P.3d 687, 391 (2007). Where a sentence is within statutory limits, the appellant bears the burden of demonstrating that it is a clear abuse of discretion. McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (citations omitted). To carry this burden the appellant must show the sentence is excessive under any reasonable view of the facts. Id. A sentence is reasonable if it appears necessary to accomplish the primary objective of protecting society and to achieve any or all of the related goals of deterrence, rehabilitation, or retribution. Id. The district court has the discretion to weigh those objectives and give them differing weights when deciding upon the sentence. Id. at 9, 368 P.3d at 629; State v. Moore, 131 Idaho 814, 825, 965 P.2d 174, 185 (1998) (court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the objectives of punishment, deterrence and protection of society outweighed the need for rehabilitation). "In deference to the trial judge, this Court will not substitute its view of a reasonable sentence where reasonable minds might differ." McIntosh, 160 Idaho at 8, 368 P.3d at 628 (quoting Stevens,

146 Idaho at 148-49, 191 P.3d at 226-27). Furthermore, "[a] sentence fixed within the limits prescribed by the statute will ordinarily not be considered an abuse of discretion by the trial court." <u>Id.</u> (quoting <u>State v. Nice</u>, 103 Idaho 89, 90, 645 P.2d 323, 324 (1982)).

The maximum prison sentence for burglary is 10 years and for grand theft is 14 years. I.C. §§ 18-1403, -2408(2)(a) The district court imposed consecutive, unified sentences of 10 years fixed for burglary and 14 years, with seven years fixed, for grand theft, which fall within the statutory guidelines. (R., pp.170-73.) Osborn's sentence is also reasonable in light of his ongoing decisions to endanger others and his failure to rehabilitate.

Osborn's criminal record demonstrates his disregard for the law, the terms of community supervision, and the well-being of others. Osborn's first felony conviction was for discharging a firearm in a house, occupied building, or vehicle in 2003 and he was sentenced to a period of retained jurisdiction, which he did not successfully complete. (PSI, pp.7-9.) After being paroled in December of 2005, Osborn was convicted of robbery in 2006 and sentenced to 25 years in prison. (PSI, pp.7-9.) Osborn was placed on parole in February 2014, and an agent's warrant for parole violation was issued in September of 2014. (PSI, p.9.) Osborn was released from incarceration in June 2015, and a warrant was again issued the very next month. (PSI, p.9.) After a period of incarceration, Osborn was placed on parole in February 2016, and he committed the instant offense two months later. (PSI, p.9.) Osborn also committed multiple disciplinary offenses while in incarcerated, including: disrespect to a commanding officer, intent to injure, group disruption, sexual activity, outside of authorized boundaries, horse play, battery, unauthorized transfer of property, and disobedience to orders. (PSI, pp.62-75.) Osborn's desire for treatment and support from family and friends do not outweigh the seriousness of the

offenses, his demonstrated inability or unwillingness to conform his behavior to the requirements of the law, and the need for community protection.

At sentencing, the district court articulated the correct legal standards applicable to its decision and also set forth its reasons for imposing Osborn's sentence. (3/15/17 Tr., p.41, L.17 – p.43, L.24.) The district court concluded, saying, "You put everybody at risk. Your willingness to do that frightens me." (3/15/17 Tr., p.43, Ls.15-16.) The state submits that Osborn has failed to establish that his sentence is excessive for reasons more fully set forth in the attached excerpt of the sentencing hearing transcript, which the state adopts as its argument on appeal. (Appendix A.)

Osborn next asserts that the district court abused its discretion by denying his Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence because he was remorseful and provided an additional letter of support. (Appellant's brief, p.5.) If a sentence is within applicable statutory limits, a motion for reduction of sentence under Rule 35 is a plea for leniency, and this court reviews the denial of the motion for an abuse of discretion. State v. Huffman, 144 Idaho, 201, 203, 159 P.3d 838, 840 (2007). To prevail on appeal, Osborn must "show that the sentence is excessive in light of new or additional information subsequently provided to the district court in support of the Rule 35 motion." Id. Osborn has failed to satisfy his burden.

Information with respect to Osborn's remorse and support from his mother was before the district court at the time of sentencing and, as such, it is not new information that entitled Osborn to a reduction of sentence. (3/15/17 Tr., p.33, Ls.10-20.; PSI, pp.40-44.) Furthermore, these factors do not outweigh the seriousness of the offense, the danger Osborn presents to the community, and his failure to rehabilitate or be deterred.

The district court considered all of the relevant information and appropriately concluded

that Osborn's sentence was appropriate "given Defendant's criminal history and utter inability to

remain crime free or drug free for any meaningful amount of time after being released on

parole." (Order Denying Rule 35 Motion, p.9 (Augmentation).) Osborn has not shown that he

was entitled to a reduction of sentence simply because he is remorseful and has the support of his

mother. Given any reasonable view of the facts, Osborn has failed to establish that the district

court abused its discretion by denying his Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence.

Conclusion

The state respectfully requests this Court to affirm Osborn's conviction and sentences and

the district court's order denying Osborn's Rule 35 motion for a reduction of sentence.